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5. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property No. Resources within Property
[X] Private [ ] Building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
[ ] Public-Local [X] District 25 _7  Buildings
[ ] Public-State [ ] Site 1 Sites
[ ] Public-Federal [ ] Structure 4 Structure
[ ] Object 1 _ Objects

31 7 Total
Name of related multiple property listing Number of contributing
N/A Resources previously

listed in the National

Register _ 0
6. Function or Use
Historic Functions Current Functions
(enter categories from instructions) (enter categories from instructions)
EDUCATION/College EDUCATION/College
EDUCATION/Research Facility EDUCATION/Research Facility
SOCIAL/Clubhouse RELIGION/Church

AGRICULTURE/SUBSISTENCE/Agricultural field

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instructions)

MID-19" CENTURY/LATE VICTORIAN/Greek Revival/Italianate Transitional

LATE 19" & 20" CENTURY REVIVALS/Colonial Revival

LATE 19" & EARLY 20TH CENTURY AMERICAN MOVEMENTS/Bungalow/Craftsman

MODERN MOVEMENT/Modernistic

MODERN MOVEMENT

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

Foundation: BRICK: CONCRETE: STONE: Limestone, Granite

Walls: WOOD: Weatherboard. Shingle, Log; CONCRETE; BRICK:;

Roof: ASPHALT: STONE: Slate; METAL: Copper., Aluminum

Narrative Description
Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets
[X] See continuation sheet
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8. Statement of Significance

County and State

Applicable National Register Criteria

(Mark x in one or more boxes for the criteria
qualifying the property for National Register listing.)

[X] A Property is associated with events that have
made a significant contribution to the broad patterns
of our history.

[ 1B Property is associated with the lives of
persons significant in our past.

[X] C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or represents
the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or
represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose
components lack individual distinction.

[ 1D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark x in all the boxes that apply.)

[ ] A owned by a religious institution or

used for religious purposes.

[ 1B removed from its original location.

[ ] C abirthplace or grave.

[ 1D acemetery.

[ ]E areconstructed building, object, or structure.

[ ]F acommemorative property.

[ ]G less than 50 years of age or achieved
significance within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

[X] See continuation sheet

Areas of Significance

(Enter categonies from instructions)

ARCHITECTURE

COMMUNITY PLANNING
AND DEVELOPMENT

EDUCATION

ENTERTAINMENT/
RECREATION

SOCIAL HISTORY

Period of Significance
1868-1957

Significant Dates
1868, 1893, 1913, 1915

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above.)

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder

Culler, Lloyd Clayton
Hamme, John Bentz
Bowers, Charles Fritz
Hopkins, Henry Powell
Harrison, Mertz and Emlen
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[ ] recorded by Historic American Specify repository:

Buildings Survey # The Frederick County Historical Society
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Continuation Sheets
Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous
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Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner
(Conplete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name Hood College
street & number 401 Rosemont Avenue telephone _301-663-3131
city or town __Frederick state MD zip code 21701

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to
nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is
required 1o obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 ef seq.)

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for
reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden
estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC
20013-7127, and the Office of the Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.



NPS Form 10-900
(Rev. 11-50) OMB No. 10024-0018—

United States Department of the Interior F/’s‘/ /7
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
Continuation Sheet

HOOD COLLEGE HISTORIC DISTRICT, FREDERICK, MD
Section Number _7 Page _1

SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

Established as the Woman’s College of Frederick in 1893, Hood College emerged as a traditional
American liberal arts college supporting the growing educational opportunities available to women.
Originally located in downtown Frederick in buildings detailed with Ionic columns that were leased from
the Frederick Female Seminary, the college outgrew its space by 1913. The present campus, inspired by
its spacious l9‘h-century suburban location in northwest Frederick with views of the mountains, came to
fruition by the generous support of its initial benefactor Margaret Scholl Hood, a graduate of the
Seminary, and the innovative planning ideals of the first college president, Joseph H. Apple. Hood
College’s initial development consisted of the addition of two buildings, Alumnae Hall and Shriner Hall,
in 1915 to support the existing 1868 building now known as Brodbeck Hall. Development continued
through the first quarter of the 20" century, only slightly hindered by financial resources and the onset of
the Depression. By 1940, over fifteen buildings dotted the thriving college campus, which was expanding
in an orderly fashion according to the original plan. Through this continued orderly growth, the Beaux-
Arts style campus design and its brick buildings, illustrative of the Colonial Revival style, have come to
define Hood College as an exemplary representation of the architectural styles and landscape plans
commonly found at other colleges and universities throughout the United States. A variety of early-to-
mid-20‘h-century American movement architectural styles and building types were also added to the
cohesive campus as a small number of adjacent residences were acquired by the college. The campus
plan, despite several evolutionary changes, retains much of its original design and architecturally
significant buildings, resulting in a period of significance ranging from 1868 through 1957. The area
making up the Hood College Historic District presently consists of thirty educational buildings, an
observatory, a central quadrangle, a church, an entry gate, and four additional structures, located on
approximately fifty landscaped acres. Thirty-one of the thirty-eight resources are contributing.

SITE AND BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The Hood College campus developed with grand Beaux-Arts style planning ideals that exhibited Colonial
Revival styles and forms typical of American collegiate planning practices at the turn of the twentieth
century. The campus tract was landscaped with trees, walking paths, and a central landscaped quadrangle
that complimented the grand collegiate buildings. The buildings, primarily facing the central quadrangle,
were buffered from the public streets by the topography, paved sidewalks, an entry drive, and a grassy
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quadrangle planted with shade trees. From the outset, Hood College was planned as an expandable
campus with Alumnae Hall and Shriner Hall forming the anchors to a carefully planned cross-axis design
centered on an open landscaped quadrangle. An outer circle arrangement created a secondary space for
some of the buildings that were added later. The original design scheme, as well as a revised 1923 plan,
also placed the buildings on the highest elevation of the tract, a popular practice of campus design during
this period. This location was considered most desirable due to the sweeping mountain views, while
buildings along Rosemont Avenue would not obstruct the view of the campus. The central quadrangle
consists of Alumnae Hall (1915) and Coblentz Hall (1922) forming the north-south axis, Shriner Hall
(1915) and Meyran Hall (1930) forming the western boundary, and Smith Hall (1957) and Coblentz
Memorial Hall (1965) delineating the eastern edge. Slightly setback from the quad, Gambrill Gymnasium
(1949) and the Coffman Chapel (1955) form an additional central east-west axis, with the wisteria-clad
pergola (circa 1920) forming the central point. The axes are further delineated by paved walkways. A
circular paved vehicular road, Brodbeck Drive, provides access to the campus from Rosemont and Dill
Avenues.

The boundaries of the district currently occupy approximately fifty acres. The acreage has gradually
expanded to as many as 150 acres from the original twenty acres, purchased in 1913 with Margaret
Hood’s generous contributions toward the securing of the “Groff Park” tract. Hood College became a
cohesive collegiate campus located in the northwest portion of Frederick, Maryland, fronting Rosemont
Avenue. The boundaries are delineated by the surrounding streetscape with Rosemont and Dill Avenues
forming the southern edge, College and Park Avenues and the hospital grounds on the east, Seventh Street
on the north, Magnolia and Ferndale Avenues bound the westemn side, connected by Evergreen Avenue.
The landscaped grounds, transected by carefully laid paths and Colonial Revival buildings, further
distinguish the overall plan.

Current Description of Contributing Resources

Initial Building Development (1868 to 1915)

Brodbeck Hall (1868)
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Brodbeck Hall, the only building existing on the property prior to its occupation by Hood College, is a
two-and-a-half-story transitional Greek Revival/Italianate style cross-gabled building with a standing seam
metal roof, originally constructed in the Greek cross form. Constructed in 1868 as a clubhouse for a
German social organization, the brick building, laid in a seven-course American-bond pattern, measures
three bays wide with a central pavilion and flanking wings. Based on historic photographs, the building,
originally called College Hall, remains relatively intact. However, the building has undergone renovations
in 1915, 1919, 1922 and the 1960s, resulting in a more Colonial Revival-style presentation that is in
keeping with the overall campus design. Constructed on a seven-course American-bond brick foundation,
the southern-facing primary facade front toward Rosemont and Dill Avenues. The fagade features a
central entry with a molded Greek Revival-style surround, fluted pilasters, a five-light transom, and a
slightly inset double-leaf replacement ten-light wooden door. Two 6/6 wooden windows, detailed with
splayed flat arches, keystones, and molded lug wood sills, flank the entry. Originally the windows
featured 2/2 wooden sash with decorative carved wood hood lintels and operable louvered wooden
shutters. An added three-bay Colonial Revival porch presently shelters the first story of the fagade. The
shed roof porch, clad in historically accurate standing seam metal in keeping with the main block, features
a molded wooden cornice with a modillion course and a similarly detailed central pediment. Supported by
Tuscan columns and pilasters, the porch sits on a wooden tongue-and-groove floor supported by a brick
pier foundation with wooden lattice infill. The porch features central concrete stairs and is partially
enclosed by a carved balustrade with a gooseneck-molded rail, square post balusters, and central blocks of
decorative fretwork. The three second-story windows, similar in style to those on the ground level, are
symmetrically spaced and sit just above the porch roof, masking any remaining ghostlines of the original
second-story balcony. The original projecting balcony featured a decorative scroll-sawn balustrade. The
facade also features a molded comice, with an added modillion course and returns, and an original large
wooden fanlight that pierces the gable peak. The window displays a molded lug wood sill and single-
course, rowlock-brick, half-round surround. Stepped back two bays from the fagade, the wings extend
two bays from the main block. Each of the two main stories features two symmetrically placed windows,
replaced in a similar style to the fagade, and placed just beneath the modillion-coursed cornice. The
basement level also features replacement multi-light windows. The wings are each capped by two gabled
dormers with molded pediments, Tuscan pilasters, and 8/8 wooden windows. The building is capped by a
central wooden Colonial Revival-style cupola that features a decorative domed copper roof and finial, a
molded wooden cormice, carved pilasters, and rounded-arch 6/6 windows. The decorative crown, rebuilt
in 1922, replaces the original Italianate-styled cupola that adorned the building. The original cupola
featured a multi-gabled roof with three elongated Italianate-style rounded-arch 1/1-windows and a gable-



NPS Form 10-900
(Rev. 11-90) OMB No. 10024-0018

F-3./49

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
Continuation Sheet
HOOD COLLEGE HISTORIC DISTRICT, FREDERICK, MD

Section Number _7 Page _4

peak single-light roundel window. Decorative brick interior-end chimneys with corbeled caps also pierce
the roof of the wings.

The east and west elevations feature a gable-front form, similar in design to the fagade. In place of the
three-bay-wide porch, added single-bay Colonial Revival gabled porticos shelter the central bays of the
first story. The gable-roof portico of each elevation features a molded wooden comice with a modillion-
coursed pediment and a flush tympanum and fascia. Supported by Tuscan columns and pilasters, the
portico sits on a wooden tongue-and-groove floor supported by a brick pier foundation. The porticos
shelter the central entries that display molded Greek Revival-style surrounds, fluted pilasters, a five-light
transom and slightly inset double-leaf replacement six-light and two-panel wooden doors. Similar in
design to the colonialized fagade, the portico features central wooden steps and is partially enclosed by a
carved balustrade with a gooseneck-molded rail, square post balusters, and central blocks of decorative
fretwork. The three second-story windows, similar in style to those on the ground level, are symmetrically
spaced and sit just beneath the modillion-coursed cornice. Similar to the fagade, the elevations also
feature cornice returns, and original large wooden fanlights centrally piercing the gable peak. The
windows display a molded lug wood sill and single-course, rowlock-brick, half-round surround. Stepped
back two bays from the central main block, the east and west elevations extend two bays in width. Each
of the two main stories features two symmetrically placed windows, replaced in a similar style to the
facade, and placed just beneath the modillion-coursed cornice. The basement level also features
replacement paired four-light windows with square-edged lug lintels and sills. The wings, created from
the setback of the projecting fagade, are each capped by two added gable dormers with molded pediments,
Tuscan pilasters, and 8/8 wooden windows. Some brick infill ghostlining is visible around the splayed
flat-arch lintels.

The rear elevation of Brodbeck Hall is currently composed of an ell addition, dating to the 1922
renovation. The auditorium addition extends 38 feet from the original two-bay projection, adding five
non-symmetrical bays. Constructed in seven-course American-bond brick, the two-and-a-half-story
addition is detailed similarly to the main block. It featured a gabled standing seam metal roof, 6/6 wooden
windows with surrounds and sills similar in design to the main block, gabled dormers, and a molded wood
comnice with modillion detailing.

After an enlargement of the hall in 1922, the building was neglected in terms of maintenance. By the
1960s it was evident that the aging structure needed attention. Immediate plans to demolish the building
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for a new music hall were laid, but later thwarted by a lack of financial support. Instead, the building was
structurally reinforced with steel beams in the sub-structure and supporting rods in the roof, as well as
additional needed restoration, including the updating of the interior acoustics.

The interior of Brodbeck Hall is reputed to retain the original wall murals depicting German mythological
and hunting scenes. Also dating to the original function of the building as a German social hall, it is said
that beer pipes are still installed under the building. In addition, the interior displays eight classical bas-
relief carved ornamental plaster friezes donated to the college by Mrs. Miriam Apple, wife of the college
President Joseph Henry Apple.

Alumnae Hall (1915)

The administration building, later known as Alumnae Hall, was constructed in 1915, as the first new
building for Hood College’s present campus. Designed in the Colonial Revival style as a part of the
overall campus plan, the symmetrical, fifteen-bay-wide building stands three-and-a-half-stories in height,
sits on a granite foundation and is constructed of American-bond brick. Capped by a side-gabled slate
roof, the building is detailed with a wooden raking cornice with modillion and dentil courses. The fagade
faces south on Brodbeck Drive, anchoring the central quadrangle to the north and the college’s front entry
gate to the south.

The fagade of Alumnae Hall measures fifteen bays wide with a central full-height three-bay portico,
reached by granite steps. The portico is supported by four fluted Ionic columns set on granite bases,
symbolizing Hope, Opportunity, Obligation, and Democracy, dedicated respectively by the classes of
1915, 1916, 1917, and 1918. Detailed with a molded tympanum, modillions, dentils, and a raking cornice,
the Colonial Revival-style portico shelters the central entry, which features a full-story granite surround
with a carved entablature, modillions, dentils, and an inset double-leaf wooden door. Capped by a multi-
light transom with octagonal-shaped tracery, supported by fluted half-pilasters and a modillion course, the
molded square-panel doors display single square-lights with a wheel pattern. Paired 6/6 windows with
shared surrounds and brick jack arch lintels with granite keystones flank the entry. The windows sit on a
square-edged granite stringcourse, serving as the sills. Slightly inset from the rest of the building, the
three-bay-wide central portion, sheltered by the portico, is delineated by full-height pilaster-like brick
projections with raised brick bands on the first story. The second story is pierced with three symmetrically
spaced pairs of 6/6 windows similar in design to those on the ground level. The two stories are separated
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by a granite stringcourse set on a brick dentil course. Extending into the molded cornice of the paneled
ceiling, which acts as a surround lintel, the three pairs of 6/6 third-story windows feature square-edged lug
granite sills. Three projecting brick panels separate the second and third stories.

Symmetrical wings, creating the remainder of the fagade, flank the central portico portion of the building.
The basement level, pierced with six 3/3 windows is separated from the first story by a large granite
watertable with molded cap. Located just above the watertable, a thin square-edged granite stringcourse
serves as the sills for six symmetrically placed 6/6 round-arch windows with molded surrounds and brick
voussoirs, engaged to the neighboring window surround by projecting brick stringcourse-like detailing.

The second and third stories, anchored by brick quoins, each feature six 6/6 windows with jack arched
brick lintels and granite keystones. The first and second stories are separated by a granite stringcourse set
on a brick dentil course, which forms the second-story sills, while third stories windows feature individual
square-edged lug granite sills. Slightly projecting decorative brick panels are placed under each third
story window.

Six gabled dormers, located on each side of the central portico, cap the primary elevation. The Colonial
Revival-style dormers are detailed with molded pediments, 8/8 wood windows, wooden pilasters, and
slate cladding. Each side elevation of the portico also features two similarly detailed dormers. The side
elevations of the projection also feature one window on each story, continuing the pattern from the
adjacent wings. Two central-interior and four interior-end brick chimneys, each with a corbeled cap,
further crown the building.

Alumnae Hall, which measures one bay deep, features central entries on the east and west elevations.

Each elevation features a closed pediment with raking cornice, and modillion and dentil details. The brick
tympanums are each pierced with a central round-arched multi-light window with a granite arched-
surround with square-edged projecting corners. The first story, reached by granite steps with brick
balusters, features double-leaf wooden doors, similar in design to the fagade with an elaborately detailed
swag patterned fanlight and molded wood surround. Single-bay porticos with flat roofs, Ionic columns,
pilasters, and a modillion-and-dentil-coursed entablature shelter the doors. The first stories also feature
raised brick bands, continued around the building from the front and rear elevation voussoirs. A square-
edged granite stringcourse divides the first and second stories, which each feature a pair of slightly inset
double-leaf four-light and panel wood doors with molded wood surrounds and brick quoins. The second
story features a twelve-light transom and brick jack arch lintel, while the third story displays a slightly
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arched six-light transom and slightly arched brick entry surround. Each story is accessed by an exterior
metal fire escape.

Designed with detailing similar to the primary fagade, the rear elevation, which faces north, features a
slightly less formal central projecting pavilion, while the wings are identical. The elevation features a
closed pediment with brick tympanum and a central entry with double-leaf wood panel doors, two
vertically placed square-lights with a wheel pattern design, and a carved granite surround. The porch
displays a brick pier and wheel-patterned fretwork balustrade. A 6/6 rounded-arch window with a brick
voussoir surround flanks the entry. Two 1/1-vinyl windows have been cut into the elevation. Located
between the first and second stories, capping the entry, is a paired 6/6-stair hall window with square-edged
granite sill and brick jack arch lintel detailed with a granite keystone. A single-leaf nine-light fire door,
reached by a metal exterior fire escape, was added to each side of the window. The second and third
stories are pierced with a single, large, centrally placed multi-light segmental-arched window with molded
surround, square-edged granite sill, and hood-molding brick lintel. The second and third stories, separated
by brick panels, also each feature two 6/6 windows with square-edged granite sills and jack arch lintels
detailed with granite keystones.

Shriner Hall (1915)

Forming the western border of the planned central quadrangle, Shriner Hall, erected in 1915, was the
college’s first dormitory. The Colonial Revival-style building, constructed of American-bond brick set on
a brick foundation with a granite cap, features a side-gabled slate roof with hipped roof projecting wings.
Facing east, the three-and-half-story residence hall measures thirteen bays in width. Typical of the
Colonial Revival style, the building’s character-defining features include a gabled central projecting
pavilion with a columned portico, a molded wooden cornice with modillions, brick quoins, and gabled
dormers.

Shriner Hall features a full-height, central one-bay-wide projecting pavilion with brick quoins and a
gabled pediment, detailed with a raking comice, returns, and a modillion and dentil course. The building
features a central entry composed of a single-leaf wooden twenty-four light door with three-part nine-light
transom, bulls-eye comerblocks, and dado-panel and eight-light sidelights. Capped by a flat brick jack-
arch lintel with granite keystone, the entry is sheltered by a flat-roofed single-bay portico with fluted
column and pilaster supports. The portico, accessed by granite steps, is further detailed with a molded
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cornice, modillion course, and rooftop turned-post balustrade with paneled comer posts. The portico
opens on the north and south sides to an open terrace stretching three bays to each side to the projecting
wings. A granite balustrade with paneled granite corner blocks further defines the front terrace. An 8/8
wooden window with 2/2 sidelights opens onto the portico roof balcony. The window displays a jack arch
lintel and a square-edged granite sill formed from the stringcourse that stretches across the fagade between
the first and second stories. The third story presents a similar window with a lug granite sill. A slightly
projecting brick panel separates the windows. Located in the gable peak, the pavilion is detailed with a
decorative oculi with keystones. Flanking the central pavilion, the first story of the fagade features three
symmetrically placed 8/8 wooden windows with a molded surround and jack arch with central keystone.

The windows are slightly setback in rounded-arch niches with rowlock surrounds with granite block
springing points and keystones. A square-edged granite stringcourse divides the first and second stories,
while the second and third stories are spaced with projecting brick panels. Each of these two floors is
pierced, on each side of the central bay, by three 8/8 wooden windows. The windows each feature jack
arch lintels with granite keystones and granite sills, formed by the stringcourse on the second story. The
three-bay-wide anchoring wings, capped by hipped roofs, project slightly from the main block. Each
features fenestration patterns and detailing similar to the adjacent three-bay section. The wings are further
detailed with brick quoins and feature three basement level 8/8 wooden windows set on a granite
watertable. Two gabled dormers, located on each side of the central pavilion, cap the primary elevation.

The Colonial Revival-style dormers are detailed with molded pediments, paired 4/4 wood windows, and
slate cladding. Two interior-end brick chimneys with corbeled caps crown the building.

The north and south elevations of the building each measure three bays wide. The windows, which flank
the central entry, are detailed similarly to the fagade. Differing from the primary elevation are the central
bays, which feature the first-story entries. The single-leaf eighteen-light wood doors are topped by eight-
light transoms and are flanked by four-light and dado-panel sidelights. Sheltered by a squared portico
with fluted columns, pilaster supports, and a modillion-detailed cornice, the entry is accessed by granite
steps. A balustrade encloses the rooftop of the southern elevation. The second and third stories of each
elevation feature paired openings for 6/6 windows, although one of each has been retrofitted with a single-
leaf two-light fire door. An exterior metal fire escape extends from the ground to the central gabled
dormer capping each side elevation.

The rear elevation of Shriner Hall, facing west, consists of a central flush plane, with eight window
openings on each floor, as well as three-bay-wide projecting wings. Due to the existence of interior
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restroom facilities, the second bay from the south on the central portion contains no fenestration. The
ground level of the building features six symmetrically spaced 8/8 wood windows with molded wood
surrounds and wide granite stringcourses acting as the lintels and sills. A standing-seam metal shed
overhang shelters the windows. Three similar windows stretch across each wing. The first story of the
central portion is pierced with five 8/8 windows with jack arch lintels and square-edged granite sills, as
well as an additional similarly detailed pair of windows. The outer bays are pierced with single-leaf
multi-light retrofitted fire doors, reached by metal exterior stairs. The original jack arch lintels with
granite keystones remain. Located above a granite stringcourse, which acts as a sill, the second story
features four 8/8 similarly detailed windows. The story also features two replacement windows, with the
original jack arch lintels and granite sills. One window consists of a pair of single-light casements, while
the other features two pairs. Identically fenestrated, the third-story windows feature individual granite
sills. Additionally, located above the fire doors in a slightly inset arched niches with rowlock surround
and keystones, are 8/8 windows. The projecting wings are identical to those on the facade. Five gabled
dormers cap the elevation, which is detailed with a modillion-coursed molded cornice. Two interior-end
chimneys with concrete molded caps flank the northernmost dormer.

Subsequent Building Phase (1916 to 1950)

Strawn Cottage (1918)

Constructed on a solid brick foundation, the three-bay-wide Colonial Revival building, facing west on
Martha E. Church Drive at the intersection with Brodbeck Drive, stands two-and-a-half stories in height.
Constructed of American-bond brick, the building is crowned by a side-gabled slate roof with slightly
overhanging eaves and a wooden cornice detailed with modillions. Strawn Cottage features a central
entry with a single-leaf paneled wooden door, an elliptical decorative fanlight, and dado-panel and single-
light sidelights with tracery. A single-bay gable-front portico supported by Tuscan columns and fluted
pilasters shelters the entry, which is accessed by four brick steps. The classic Colonial Revival closed
pediment is further detailed with a raking cornice, modillions, and flush tympanum. Flanking the central
entry on each side is a tripartite window consisting of a central 6/6 window and 4/4 side windows. The
window compositions are detailed with molded wood surrounds, square-edged concrete sills, and single-
row jack arch lintels. Located below these windows, the basement level is pierced with three-light fixed
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windows with jack arch lintels. The southern basement window has been infilled with a vent. A
comnerstone delineates the northern corner. The second story features three symmetrically placed 8/8
windows with molded wood surrounds, square-edged concrete sills, and single-row jack arch lintels.
Ghostlines of shutters are visible. Crowning the slate roof, are three evenly spaced slate-clad gabled
dormers. Each features a round-arch multi-light double-hung window with Gothic-Revival-style tracery
and a molded wood comice with slight returns. The building also features an interior-end brick chimney
with a corbeled cap. Two one-story single-bay brick wing additions project from the main block. Both
display flat roofs and a pair of 6/6 windows with square-edged wood sills, placed just beneath the molded
wood cornice.

Alumnae House (1920)

Built as the residence of the college president and converted to the French House in 1945, Alumnae
House, which serves the Alumnae and Development offices, faces west on Martha E. Church Drive near
the corner of Rosemont Avenue. Built in the Colonial Revival style, the three-bay-wide, two-and-a-half
story building is capped by a side-gabled slate roof with slightly overhanging eaves and a boxed wooden
cornice. Symmetrically fenestrated with a central entry, the first story of the fagade is sheltered by a full-
width three-bay porch supported by Tuscan columns and fluted pilasters. The porch also displays square
balusters, a molded rail, a brick foundation and steps, a shed roof clad in standing-seam metal, slightly
overhanging eaves, and a wide wooden fascia. Detailed with a paneled single-leaf wood door, three-light
transom with decorative tracery, and similarly designed sidelights with dado panel, the entry features a
molded wood surround, soldier-brick lintel, and a square-edged stone threshold. Flanking the decorative
entry are tripartite windows with a central 8/8 sash and 4/4 sidelights. Both feature a soldier brick lintel
and square-edged stone sill. Placed just above the porch roof and below the eaves, the second story is
pierced with three evenly spaced 8/8 windows with square-edged stone sills, molded wood surrounds,
soldier brick lintels, and operable louvered wood shutters.

The Pergola (circa 1920)
Centrally located at the crossroads of the landscaped quadrangle, the circular-shaped pergola is

constructed of wood posts with a brick floor. Wisteria and other flora drapes the structure, which was
renovated in 1966 after a fire. Weakened beams were replaced in the late 1990s.
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Onica Prall Child Development Laboratory (1921)

Originally known as Eastview Terrace, the three-bay-wide building was initially constructed as the home
of the college’s vice-president. Facing west on College Avenue on the eastern edge of the campus, the
two-and-a-half-story Dutch Colonial Revival-style building is constructed of brick laid in a nine-course
American bond. Marked by a gambrel-front roof clad in asphalt shingles, the building features a slightly
off-center entry. Double-leaf flush metal fire doors replace the original single-leaf glass paneled door
with sidelights. The original jack arch brick lintel with a concrete keystone remains intact. A centrally
placed flat-roofed portico supported by wood posts shelters the entry. Flanking the entry, the first story is
pierced with 1/1 wood windows displaying square-edged concrete sills, jack arch lintels with keystones
and molded wood surrounds. A single window pierces the southern side, while a pair is located on the
northern end. The second story features two similar pairs of windows, spaced symmetrically, while the
gambrel peak features a four-light fanlight with double rowlock and keystone surround. A wood shingle-
clad wall dormer extends from the southern side of the gambrel roof. A metal balcony extends from the
dormer and has been infilled with a dormer addition. A corbel-capped interior-end brick chimney tops the
roof, which features a molded wooden cornice with returns. The building was remodeled in 1966 and a
two-story shed addition, extending one bay wide and five bays deep, was added. The addition features a
stretcher bond brick veneer on the ground level 1/1 windows detailed similarly to the main block, while
the second story is clad in aluminum siding. The building was named in honor of Onica Prall in 1971.

Coblentz Hall (1922)

Set on a granite-faced foundation with wide molded watertable, the three-and-a-half-story residence hall
was constructed in 1922 of brick laid in an American-bond pattern with a side-gabled slate roof and
modillion-and-dentil coursed cornice. The building is composed of a fifteen-bay main block and one-bay-
wide wings, set back from the fagade one bay. Featuring a full-height gabled portico supported by fluted
Tonic columns, the imposing Colonial Revival-style building anchors the northern end of the quadrangle,
on axis with Alumnae Hall. The dominating central pavilion is detailed with modillions, dentils, a full
entablature, and a flush tympanum pierced with a central roundel window with keystone surround.

Marking the three-bay-wide entry, further delineated by brick pilasters with granite capitals, the portico is
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accessed by granite steps. The elaborately detailed entrance features double-leaf twelve-light wooden
doors and a semi-circular fanlight with decorative tracery and wide, molded wood surround. The entry
also features decorative full-length sidelights, a triple-course rowlock rounded-arch surround with
keystone and engaged-column detailing. A double-hung wooden window with Gothic Revival-style
multi-lights, a square-edged granite sill, central granite keystone and double rowlock rounded-arch lintel
with granite springing blocks pierces the fagade on each side of the entry. Two inset carved granite panels
with circular centers divide the first and second stories. The second and third stories of the entry each
display three 8/8 windows with molded wood surrounds. The second story windows feature square-edged
granite sills, brick jack arch lintels with granite keystones, and molded wood surrounds. Slightly differing
in detailing, the third-story windows are set on a square-edged granite stringcourse, which acts as a
continuous sill, and are engaged into the decorative molded wood cornice, featuring rosettes, and acting as
surround lintels. The main block extends six bays from the entry in each direction. The fenestration
patterns and detailing are similar to the entry. Differences include the presence of flush stone panels
between the first and second stories and slightly different third-story window surrounds. Although still
placed on the stringcourse, the windows are not engaged into the cornice. Lowered to just below the
cornice, the windows feature jack arch lintels with granite keystones. The extending wings also each
feature three pairs of gabled dormers with slate side elevation cladding, pilaster supports, comice returns,
a central carved wooden keystone and multi-light rounded-arch double-hung windows with Gothic
Revival-style tracery. The one bay wide setback wings, flanking the main block, feature similar window
detailing. However, each is crowned by a single dormer with an elliptical pediment, pilaster supports, and
a pair of four-light windows. The basement level features 4/4 windows and multi-light single-leaf doors
cut into the foundation. Additionally, the roof features two interior-end brick chimneys with concrete
decorative caps. The chimney above the portico was added.

Identically designed, the east and west elevations, composed of the anchoring wings, measure three bays
wide. The elevations each feature a central entry with a Colonial Revival-style carved wooden surround.
Defining features of the double-leaf entry include a decorative fanlight, a paneled soffit, pilasters, a closed
pediment with modillions, and a molded wood entablature. Detailed similarly to the fagade, the first story
is pierced with rounded arch windows, one of which is infilled with a vent. The other differences from
the facade include a central pair of six-light casement windows on the second story. Additionally, the
gable peak is pierced with a smaller version of the first-story windows set just beneath the heavy
modillioned cornice with returns.
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The rear elevation, designed in a similar style to the fagade, features a central gabled ell that projects three
bays. A two-story flat roofed brick addition extends to the north. It features a brick chimney, molded
wood cornice with modillions, rowlock lintels, square-edged sills, and multi-light windows.

Carson Cottage (1923)

Built in 1923 as the headquarters of the women’s YWCA, Carson Cottage was originally known as the Y-
Hut. Renamed Carson-Y in 1954, the building features a 1956 addition known initially as the Helen
Miexal Fox Alumnae Headquarters. The original wood frame cottage, built on a solid foundation with a
stretcher-bond brick veneer, features a side-gabled roof clad in asphalt shingles. Measuring five bays in
width and one bay deep, the building features an exterior-end brick chimney. The fagade is pierced with
five 6/1 wooden windows, two of which are set beneath the inset porch. Supported by wood post and a
wood plank balustrade, the porch shelters the single-leaf entry. The building, which displays overhanging
eaves supported by triangular knee braces, is pierced on the side elevation by a large tripartite window.
Supported by a square-edged wood surround, the thirty-light fixed central window is flanked by 9/6
sidelights. Additionally, a central four-light rounded-arch fanlight lights the gable peak. The 1956 wood
frame ell addition features a half-hipped asphalt-shingle roof and extends three bays east from the original
block and features similar tripartite windows. A shed roofed one-bay-deep addition also extends from the
cottage.

John H. Williams Observatory (1924)

Constructed of American-bond brick, the astronomical observatory features a rectangular footprint. Set in
the northeast corner of the campus, near Seventh Street, the building faces south. Presenting a main block
and flush wing form, the building sits on a poured concrete foundation with decorative brick cap and
features an off-center observation tower, extending from the rear elevation. The building features a flat
roof with a concrete capped parapet wall and decorative brick corbeled comice with concrete cap. It is
accessed through a Colonial Revival-style entry, centrally located on the two-story main block. The
double-leaf entry is capped by a multi-light transom and is sheltered by a one bay gabled portico,
supported by fluted columns and pilasters. Windows with 6/6 sash on the first story flank the portico,
while 2/2 paired casements pierce the second story. The windows feature square-edged masonry sills and
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are surrounded by a full-length soldier-bond decorative brick design. The wing, stepped down in height
from the main block but flush with the facade, features a bank of four 12/12 windows with a shared
masonry sill and a decorative brick surround with concrete cornerblocks. The rear elevation of the
observatory, facing north, reveals the observation tower, centrally located on the main block. The half-
round brick tower features a copper domed roof, which rises above the entire building. The tower is
pierced on the first story by four symmetrically placed 6/6 windows. Each features a square-edged
concrete sill and rowlock decorative surround. The windows are spaced by three exterior stepped
buttresses with concrete coping. The four second-story 6/6 windows have square-edged sills and rowlock
lintels from the cornice band. To the west of the tower, the main block presents two elongated 1/1
windows on each story. They have square-edged sills, and decorative brick surrounds with concrete
comerblocks. The wing is not fenestrated on the northern elevation.

French House (1925)

Originally built as the college Infirmary to replace East Cottage, the two-story brick building was
converted into the Martz Conference Center and later the French House. Built on a solid concrete
foundation, the Colonial Revival-style building is constructed of American-bond brick and features a flat
roof. Facing south near the northeast corner of the campus, the building originally featured a one-story
central gabled entry portico on the three-bay-wide western elevation. The southern elevation, now serving
as the primary facade, measures eight bays deep. It features an off-center entry sheltered by a two-story,
three-bay-wide porch. The porch is detailed with a flat roof, a molded comice, and Tuscan post supports
that are paired at the comers. The porch also displays a metal balustrade, which replaced the original
square post balusters. Originally, a Chippendale-style balustrade capped the porch roof. Each story of the
porch shelters a central single-leaf paneled entry flanked by 6/6 wood windows. The first-story entry is
detailed with a single-light transom. The building is cut by a single 6/6 window on each story to the west
of the porch, while four windows on each story are located to the east of the porch. Each window 1s
detailed with masonry jack arch lintels with central keystones, molded wood surrounds, and square-edged
masonry sills. The building features decorative brickwork, including a soldier-course above the
foundation, a rowlock-course at the roofline, quoins, and a decorative projecting band acting as a cornice.
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Pastore Facilities Center (1927) and Facilities Shop (1947)

Located on the southwestern edge of the campus, the one-to-two-story Pastore Facilities Center was
constructed as the school’s central heating plant, which was fired by two coal boilers. The college
laundry, later converted to a science laboratory, occupies a portion of the building. Facing Evergreen
Avenue, the brick utilitarian facilities building is constructed of American-bond brick set on a solid
concrete foundation. Featuring a flat roof with concrete-capped shallow-stepped parapet, the building 1s
detailed with a square-edged concrete stringcourse and houndstooth brick-course serving as the cornice.
Other features include large metal multi-light awning windows, square-edged concrete sills, and brick
soldier-bond lintels and a stringcourse with concrete decorative corner blocks. A double-leaf wooden
multi-light entry and wooden double-leaf garage entries access the building. A buff-colored cylindrical
brick smokestack with brick bands rises approximately fifty feet above the building. A stretcher bond
brick one-story addition projects to Evergreen Avenue.

Although a separate building, the facilities shop was added to the complex in 1947. The one-and-a-half-
story American-bond brick building features a rectangular footprint, six-light metal awning windows with
rowlock sills and soldier lintels, a poured concrete foundation, and metal roll-up garage doors. The
building also features single-leaf doors, a stepped parapet roof, and a bank of ground-level six-light metal
windows.

Meyran Hall (1930)

Standing on the western border of the quadrangle next to Shriner Hall, the three-and-a-half-story building
known as Meyran Hall was built in 1930. Constructed on a solid, granite-faced foundation, the Colonial
Revival-style building incorporates many of the architectural details displayed in Alumnae and Shriner
Halls, including paired dormers, brick quoins, jack arch lintels, molded wood cornice with modillions and
dentils, keystones, and projecting brick panels dividing the second and third stories. Measuring thirteen
bays wide and three bays deep, the American-bond brick building features a side-gabled slate roof and
central full-height projecting gabled pavilion with brick quoins and a molded wood pediment with returns,
dentils and modillions. The one-bay-wide pavilion features a central entry with a single-leaf eighteen-
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light door, nine-light transom and eight-light and dado-panel sidelights. A one-story porch with a
standing-seam metal shed roof, molded cornice with modillions, and paired Tuscan column supports
stretches seven bays across the westward facing fagade. Flanking the entry, the first story features 8/8 or
paired 2/2 windows set in rounded arched inset niches with rowlock surrounds and stone keystones and
comerblocks. A square-edged granite stringcourse serves as a continuous sill for the windows. A wide
granite watertable divides the first story from the basement level, which includes the foundation of the
porch that is pierced with 8/8 windows. The central pavilion is pierced on the second and third stories by
a tripartite window with central 8/8 sash and 4/4 sidelights. The gable peak features a central rounded-
arch multi-light window with rowlock surround, keystones and comerblocks. The second and third
stories, flanking the pavilion, feature 8/8 windows with jack arch lintels, square-edged stone sills, and
molded wood surrounds. Six pairs of gabled dormers, with 6/6 windows, closed pediments, pilasters, and
slate clad cheeks cap the roof.

The three-bay-wide side elevations feature central one-story entries with Colonial Revival-style surrounds
detailed with paired fluted Tuscan pilaster supports, a paneled soffit, molded cornice with modillions, and
flat cap with wrought-iron decorative balcony. The surround features a single-leaf eighteen-light entry
with fanlight and six-light sidelights. Granite steps with stepped brick and iron rail balusters access the
entry, flanked by 8/8 windows with rounded-arch inset surrounds. The second and third stories are
pierced with a central pair of 6/6 windows flanked by 8/8 windows with detailing similar to the fagade.

The gable peak, surrounded by the enclosed pediment with brick detailed tympanum, features a central
multi-light rounded-arch window with rowlock surround and stone keystone and cornerblocks. The rear
elevation is fenestrated similarly to the facade, except the ground level of the projecting pavilion features
no porch or central entry and only ten dormers. A pair of central interior brick chimneys with decorative
caps, and a brick elevator tower addition with pyramidal roof caps the building.

Hodson Qutdoor Theater (1938)

Constructed in 1938, the Hodson Outdoor Theater was built with funds donated by Colonel Clarence
Hodson. The landscaped amphitheater, nestled in the northwestern part of the campus, features a two-
level stage and seating for 2,000 people.
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Joseph Henry Apple Library (1941) and the Clyde E. and Julia E. Thomas Library Annex (1962)

Facing east on Brodbeck Drive, the Apple Library, currently known as the Apple Resource Center, stands
as a two-and-a-half-story Colonial Revival collegiate building. Built in 1941 in American-bond brick, the
eleven-bay-wide building is marked by a single-bay projecting gabled pavilion. The one-story central
brick entry portico features double-leaf six-light and two-panel door with decorative one-light transom
and arched pediment. Filling the second and third stories of the pavilion is a large Palladian window with
round-arched 30/20-light center and 4/8-light sidelights, each placed over a panel. The tripartite window
is detailed with a Colonial Revival-style molded surround with central carved wood keystone. A closed
pediment detailed with brick tympanum, modillion course, and central ocular vent caps the pavilion.
Flanking the central pavilion, the first story features 12/12 windows, while the basement level and third
story feature 8/8 windows. Each window features a molded wood surround and square-edged sill. Canted
three-story wings with similar detailing and fenestration patterns project from the side elevations. In
1962, the Clyde and Julia E. Thomas Annex was added to rear of the library. Increasing the library’s
resource and seating capacity, the four-story-plus-raised-basement addition featured brick construction,
8/8 wooden windows, a single-leaf twelve-light entry, and a flat roof. Wooden panels placed beneath the
second and third story windows give the building verticality. The annex was demolished in 1997 to make
way for the construction of the Whitaker Campus Center.

Gambrill Gymnasium (1949)

Although set back from the west side of the central quadrangle, Gambrill gymnasium forms an addition
east-west axis in line with Coffman Chapel, constructed in 1955. The Colonial Revival-style gymnasium
was designed to complement the original campus buildings. Composed of a central side-gabled block
with flat-roofed projecting wings, the seven-bay-wide gymnasium is constructed on a concrete foundation
with central entry. The double-leaf six-light paneled wood entry features a decorative transom and
molded wood surround with keystone. Three pairs of symmetrically placed 9/9 with molded surrounds
windows flank the entry. Paired Tuscan columns and end pilasters support a seven-bay one-story porch,
which forms a flush plane with the projecting wings. The porch features a slate shed roof, a double-leaf
matching entry to each wing, a concrete deck, and central gable. The second story of the slate roofed main
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block is pierced with seven rounded-arch 27/15-light windows. A similar window lights the second story
of each wing. A wooden panel separates the arched window with the 15/15-lights on the first story. A
continuous molded wood cornice ties the three building parts together. Two interior-end brick chimneys
with concrete caps crown the roof. Measuring six bays deep, the gymnasium features 12/12 windows on
three stories and a shed roof one-story porch supported by brick piers. The interior includes the Hodson
Pool, a stage, gym, locker rooms, lounge, classrooms, and faculty offices.

“Hood Forward” Building Program (1951-1957)

One of the largest building campaigns undertaken by the college was launched in 1951 as “Hood
Forward.” The program, which raised over one million dollars for renovations and expansions to meet
growing academic needs, stands as a significant phase in the college’s history. The building’s constructed
during this period, which were sensitively designed to be compatible with the existing Colonial Revival
buildings, completed the central quadrangle as it was envisioned in the original plan.

Coffman Chapel (1955)

Located on the eastern edge of the inner campus, just off the quadrangle, the Coffman Chapel, erected in
1955, stands on axis with Gambrill Gymnasium. The site, chosen over one near the front gates, was
selected as it “would carry forward the orderly development of the campus and would help to complete the
inner campus quadrangle.” The traditional Colonial Revival church building measures five bays wide
and seven bays deep. Consisting of a central portico, main block, and transept capped by a rising steeple,
the church is designed to recall the architectural genius of architects like Sir Christopher Wren and James
Gibbs. Set on a poured concrete foundation, the chapel is constructed of American bond brick with a
front-gabled slate roof. The fagade, facing west, features three central double-leaf three-paneled wooden
doors with single-light decorative transoms. The central door displays an elaborate surround with fluted
pilasters and a broken pediment with an urn finial, while the flanking doors feature less elaborate
surrounds detailed with molded entablatures. The first story is also pierced with two slightly arched 12/8

' “Site for New Chapel at Hood Is Selected” Hood College Archives.
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windows with square-edged sills and rowlock arched lintels. The second story consists of five evenly
spaced rounded-arch windows with Gothic Revival-style tracery, square-edged sills, molded wood
surrounds, and rowlock arched-lintels. An almost full-height gabled portico shelters the three central
bays. Supported by four fluted Ionic columns, the portico is detailed with a closed pediment with
modillions, a flush tympanum with central roundel multi-light window with keystone surround, and
molded entablature with four carved rosettes. A rising steeple set on a square brick base with roundel
window crowns the main block, which also features a modillion-detailed pediment. Separated by a
modillion-detailed cornice, a two-part wooden steeple rises from the base. It features a square block with
rounded-arch central vent, corner paired Ionic pilasters and a dentil-course cap. A decorative wooden
balustrade with urn-capped posts surrounds the block. The steeple is topped by a cupola with arched open
bays, pilaster supports and an octagonal-domed steeple base. A cross finial caps the conical roof.

Continuing the window style of the fagade, the two-story sanctuary block extends five bays to the east. A
hipped-roof transept with similar detailing extends one-bay deep and one-bay wide at the rear of the
chapel.

G. Frank Thomas Athletic Field (1956)

Located on the northwest boundary of the campus, along Seventh Street, the Thomas Athletic field was
created in 1956. Entered from Magnolia Avenue, north of Gambrill Gymnasium, the entry is marked by a
gate supported by brick piers.

R. Paul Smith Residence Hall (1957)

Set on the quadrangle on axis with Shriner Hall, R. Paul Smith Hall was constructed of American-bond
brick with a hipped slate roof, concrete foundation, central gabled pavilion, and molded wood cornice
with modillions. Facing west, the three-and-a-half-story fagade, which measures thirteen bays wide,
features a three bay, full-height pediment-capped projecting pavilion with molded cornice and gable peak
round-arch 10/6-light window. Featuring a central single-leaf multi-light entry flanked by six 12/8
wooden windows, the building is marked by a one-story porch stretching across the pavilion. Supported
by paired Tuscan posts, the porch is capped by a rooftop deck with fretwork-detailed balustrade and
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molded cornice. The porch sits on a brick pier foundation, with basement-level access. The first and
second stories of the residence hall are pierced with 12/8 windows with square-edged sills and jack arch
lintels, while the similarly detailed third story and basement level feature 8/8 windows. Eight
symmetrically spaced gabled dormer windows with 6/6 windows cap the building. The side elevations,
which measure three bays wide, feature central entries with Colonial Revival surrounds detailed with
Tuscan fluted columns, a molded entablature, and paneled soffit. The side elevations also feature
symmetrical window openings similar in style to those on the fagade.

Lillian Brown Hodson Science Hall (1957) and Technology Center (2001)

Originally constructed by L.J. Keller and Sons of Frederick in 1957, the Hodson Science Hall faces east at
the intersection of Brodbeck Drive and Ferndale Avenue. The building is currently undergoing a major
restoration with the construction of the Hodson Technology Center, which will integrate Hodson into a
wing via a hyphen connector. The original Colonial Revival-style building stands two stories in height
with a hipped slate roof. Constructed of brick, laid in a stretcher-bond brick pattern, the building is
detailed with a molded wood cornice with decorative modillions and a central projecting pavilion. The
two-and-a-half-story gabled pavilion, now partially masked by the hyphen, measures three-bays in width
and features a central entry. Consisting of a single-leaf multi-light paneled door with eight-light transom,
the original entry featured a molded surround with rounded-arch pediment and dentils. Flanking the door
are 12/12 windows with square-edged stone sills and jack arch brick lintels. Three 8/12 windows with
similar detailing pierce the second story of the pavilion, while a roundel light with wooden keystone
surround light the gable peak. Flanking the pavilion, the fagade extends six bays wide and five bays deep.
Each of the two stories feature symmetrically placed windows with details similar to the fagade. A two-
story brick addition extends to the west. It features a rectangular footprint, flat roof, concrete parapet,
stretcher-bond brick veneer, and slightly fixed two-light vertical windows with rowlock surrounds and
concrete under panels.

The Hodson Science and Technology Center addition is located on the east side of the original building.
Only partially constructed, the structure features a side-gabled main block and front-gabled wings.
Constructed on a poured concrete foundation, the two-story building presents a Flemish-bond brick
veneer, a molded wood comice, concrete watertable, and recessed quoin-like corners. Featuring a central
full-height entry on the main block flanked by with 12/8 windows on the basement and first story levels
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and 8/8 windows on the second story. Each displays molded surrounds, square-edged sills, and jack arch
lintels, designed to compliment the historic portion of the building. However, some modern elements
were also incorporated into the design, including hammered metal decorative panels and chimney
cladding.

Thomas Gateway (1957)

Erected in 1956 through the generous contributions of Mr. and Mrs. Clyde E. Thomas and G. Frank
Thomas, the gateway on Rosemont Avenue serves as the main entrance to the campus. Constructed with
brick piers with molded concrete caps and lanterns and a brick wall with inset brick panels and gooseneck
coping, the gates open to Brodbeck Drive. The gates features an inset plaque reading “Hood College
Founded 1893.”

Additional Contributing Resources Acquired by the College
Honors House (circa 1925)

The circa 1930 wood frame bungalow, located at 504 Magnolia Avenue, measures three bays wide. The
one-and-a-half-story building features a standing seam metal side-gabled roof and front-gabled off-center
bungaloid porch. Originally clad in weatherboard, the building currently features aluminum siding and
overhanging eaves also clad in aluminum. Featuring a central single-leaf Arts and Crafts-style door eight-
light wooden paneled door, the fagade is pierced with two diamond-pattern multi-light double-hung
windows with aluminum shutters, and thin aluminum surrounds. The gabled porch, supported by tapered
wood posts on brick piers, shelters the fagade. The building is further detailed with a side-elevation
projecting bay capped by a shed roof and an exterior-end brick chimney, which extends through the
overhanging eaves.
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College House (circa 1930, purchased by Hood 1970)

Located at 506 Magnolia Avenue, on the western edge of the campus, the small residential/administrative
building stands two stories high. Built on a solid foundation, the building features a stretcher-bond brick
veneer, side-gabled roof with asphalt-shingle cladding, an exterior-end chimney, and a central entry. The
Colonial Revival-style entry features a single-leaf paneled wood door with a molded surround and fluted
pilaster supports, and four-light and dado-panel sidelights. A single-bay gabled portico with arched entry,
concrete deck, and Tuscan column supports shelters the doorway. Symmetrically fenestrated, the first
story is pierced with two 8/8 windows, flanking the door, and the second story features three 8/8 windows.
Each is detailed with a thin molded wood surround and rowlock brick sill. A stretcher course from the
veneer serves as a lintel. The building also features slightly overhanging eaves with a boxed wood cornice
and two three-light metal basement windows. The house faces west on Magnolia Avenue.

Wellness/Counseling Center (circa 1930)

Constructed circa 1930, the Wellness/Counseling Center is located at the comer of Rosemont and
Ferndale Avenue in the southwest comer of the campus. The two-and-a-half-story Craftsman-Bungalow
cottage sits on a poured concrete solid foundation. The wood-frame structure, reclad in vinyl siding,
measures three bays in width and two bays deep. The building presents a square footprint, side-gabled
asphalt-shingled roof, and exterior end brick chimney. The central entry, facing south, features a multi-
light paneled single-leaf entry flanked by 1/1 windows with square-edged aluminum surrounds and
replacement aluminum louvered shutters. An inset full-width porch supported by limestone piers shelters
the entry. Bungaloid posts support the porch with paneled square pillars supported by limestone piers. A
shed dormer with a bank of four 6/6 windows caps the roof. The side elevations feature two
symmetrically placed pairs of 1/1 windows with aluminum square-edged surrounds and replacement
louvered aluminum shutters. The second story features two double-leaf multi-light doors with half-round
balconies and metal balustrades. The gable peak is pierced with a 1/1 window and square-edged
aluminum surround. A wooden handicapped accessibility ramp with wooden balustrade extends along the
eastern elevation.
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Sports Medicine/Health Center (circa 1940) purchased 1967

The two-story building at 602 Magnolia Avenue measures three bays in width. Capped by a side-gabled
asphalt-shingle roof, the asbestos-shingle-clad building is accessed by an off-center single-leaf four-light
paneled door with Colonial Revival-style surround. The surround features a molded entablature, flat cap,
and fluted pilaster supports. The fagade is pierced with two additional 6/6 windows with thin square-
edged wood surrounds and sills. The second story is lit with three symmetrically spaced 6/6 windows
with similar detailing. Set on a solid concrete foundation, the building faces west. A one-story shed
addition with single-leaf paneled door extends to the south. Additionally, a one-story wood frame garage
with weatherboard cladding, a front-gabled asphalt-shingled roof, a double-leaf vertical board garage
entry, and overhanging eaves with exposed rafters. A one-story vertical board tool shed addition features
a flat roof, vertical-board double-leaf entry, and wooden cornice. The College purchased the residential
building in 1967 as a faculty and staff residence. It currently serves as the Sports Medicine Center.

Spanish House (circa 1940)

The Spanish House, located at 271 Dill Avenue, is adjacent to the core campus on the east side. The
current Spanish House is a two-and-a-half story Colonial Revival-style foursquare dwelling. Constructed
of seven-course American-bond brick on a solid poured concrete foundation, the building features a
hipped roof with asphalt shingle cladding and two interior-end brick chimneys with corbeled caps. The
three-bay-wide building features a slightly off-center replacement single-leaf metal fire door with fanlight.
The retrofit door sits in the original molded surround with three-light transom, single-light sidelights, and
double rowlock segmental-arch lintel. Wooden windows with 1/1 sash and similar surrounds and square-
edged wood sills flank the door. A three-bay full-width porch detailed with Tuscan column supports, a
square post balustrade, and a molded cornice with modillions shelter the first story. The second story is
pierced with three symmetrically placed 1/1 windows with similar detailing and arched surrounds. A half-
hipped dormer with a pair of 1/1 windows, a molded cornice with modillions, and a flush wooden
surround caps the roof. A wood post supported handicapped accessibility ramp accesses the front entry.
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German House (circa 1940, purchased 1965)

The German House, located at 518 Magnolia Avenue on the west side of the campus, is a circa 1940
structure acquired by the College in 1965. The wood-frame building, reclad in aluminum siding, features
a front-gabled roof with an asymmetrical saltbox-like form and brick foundation. A single-leaf one-light
door accesses an off-center gabled entry vestibule. The first and second stories feature a pair of 1/1
windows with square-edged aluminum shared surrounds. Additionally, the second story features a single
1/1 window with square-edged aluminum surround, placed just above the entrance. The gable peak is lit
with a smaller version of the paired 1/1 windows. Beneath the off-center gable extension, the building
features an inset porch supported by square wooden posts, extending the depth of the dwelling. An
interior end brick chimney with a corbeled cap rises from the asphalt-shingled roof. The building, which
originally served as a faculty/staff residence, currently serves as the German House.

Current Description of Non-Contributing Resources

Raudy Cabin (1928, burned and restored 1979)

Built into a hill on a solid stone foundation, the rustic two-story cabin features a gable-front standing-seam
metal roof. Originally constructed of round saddle-notched chestnut and pine logs with chinking, the
three-bay-wide and two-bay-deep building features a central single-leaf vertical-board entry. Each story
features two 6/6 wood windows with square-edged wood surrounds and vertical-board operable louvered
shutters. An interior-end brick chimney rises from the roof. A one-story board-and-batten entry addition
with a shed roof extends from the rear elevation. Additionally, a wood post supported deck wraps around
two sides of the building. A fire in 1979 destroyed three of the original logs, the roof, as well as the four
windows, a door, and the wiring. Although the restoration was meticulous, the logs were replaced with
oak and new windows and doors were installed. The building is located miles outside the designated
boundaries and is not included in the historic district.
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President’s House (1961)

Constructed in 1961, the Colonial Revival-style residence was designed in a style similar to the other
buildings along College Avenue. Built of Flemish-bond brick, the three-bay-wide building features a side
gabled slate roof. Symmetrically fenestrated, the dwelling features a central gabled portico with a gabled
roof, molded comice with modillions and returns, an arched entry, and Tuscan column and pilaster
supports. The entry shelters the single-leaf paneled door detailed with an elliptical fanlight and three-light
and dado-panel sidelights. Flanking the entry are 8/8 wooden windows with molded wood surrounds,
square-edged sills, jack arch brick lintels, and operable wooden louvered shutters. Three similar windows
symmetrically spaced light the second story. Additional detailing includes slightly overhanging eaves, a
molded cornice with modillions, an exterior-end brick chimney with corbeled caps, and three gabled
dormers with 6/6 windows, weatherboard siding, and pilaster supported pediments.

Coblentz Memorial Hall (1965)

Placed on the central quadrangle, across from Meyran Hall, Coblentz Memorial Hall was constructed in
1965. Constructed of Flemish-bond brick with a hipped slate roof, the Colonial Revival-style building,
which faced west, is styled similarly to its historic counterparts. The two-and-a-half-story residence hall,
facing west, measures thirteen bays in width and three bays deep and is constructed of brick laid in a
Flemish-bond pattern. Marked by a full-height Colonial Revival-style gabled portico supported by Ionic
columns and fluted pilasters, the building features a central single-leaf paneled nine-light entry with
squared-edged surround. The portico is further detailed with a molded entablature with rosettes, a closed
pediment with modillions, and flush wood tympanum with central fanlight. The portico is set on a brick
base cut with openings to the ground level central entry, similar in style to the main entry. The first-story
entry is flanked by 12/12 windows detailed with square-edged stone sills, molded wood surrounds, and
jack arch brick lintels, symmetrically placed across the fagade. The second story features 12/8 windows,
while the third story and basement level features 8/8 windows, all similarly detailed. The building is
further detailed with a molded cornice with modillions and eight gabled dormers with 6/6 windows. A
molded brick watertable and square-edged projecting brick stringcourse further define the residence hall,
as does a stone cornerstone recording the building’s dedication in 1965. The side elevations of the
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building present central entries with Colonial Revival-style surrounds, fluted pilasters, multi-light
transoms and single-leaf entries. With window pattemns similar to the fagade, the side elevations are
capped by single gabled dormers.

Tatem Arts Center (1966)

Located on the east side of Brodbeck Drive, the Tatem Arts Center was constructed in 1966. Measuring
thirteen bays in width, the Flemish-bond brick building is capped by a slate hipped-roof with molded
wood comnice and modillions. The fagade, facing west, is dominated by a three-bay-wide portico with a
rounded-arch pediment supported by Tuscan columns and detailed with a molded entablature, modillions,
a standing-seam metal roof, and a central fanlight. Sheltered by the portico, the three-bay-wide entry
facade features full-height white rusticated concrete and a central double-leaf wooden paneled door. The
door is detailed with a twelve-light transom and Colonial Revival surround with fluted pilasters, and a
dentiled entablature with a flat cap. Single-leaf six-panel wood door with molded surround and ten-light
transom flanks the central door. Extending north and south from the central portico, the fagade is pierced
with five symmetrically placed windows to each side. The first story features 12/12 windows, while the
second story is cut with 8/8 sash. Each window features a molded wood surround, jack arch lintel, and
square-edged sill.

Rosenstock Hall (1970)

The two-story Colonial Revival-style academic building known as Rosenstock Hall is located on the west
side of Brodbeck Drive, facing east near the main entry gate. The Flemish-bond brick building sits on
stone block faced foundation and is crowned by a side gabled slate roof with molded wood comice.

Marked by a two-and-a-half-story gabled portico, the three-bay-wide entry is defined by white rusticated
cladding. The portico is detailed with four Ionic column supports, stone steps, a molded entablature, and
closed pediment with central roundel window, and modillions. Accessed by a double-leaf paneled door
with Colonial Revival-style surround, including a six-light transom, molded entablature, flat cap, and
fluted pilasters. The first story is pierced with twelve 12/12 windows with molded wood surrounds and
square-edged sills, while the second story is similarly fenestrated with thirteen 8/8 windows.

Additionally, jack arch lintels detail the windows flanking the rusticated three-bay entry. A one-and-a-
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half-story auditorium extends from the rear elevation of the building. It is constructed of brick with a
mansard asphalt-shingled roof, stone block-faced foundation, and inset brick panels suggesting window
openings.

Huntsinger Aquatic Center (1975)

Located on the western side of campus, the Huntsinger Aquatic Center, erected in 1975, stands one story
in height with a broken gable roof clad in wood shingles. The modernism-style building presents a
rectangular form with an emphasis on horizontally. Measuring four bays wide and two bays deep, the
building presents a number of architectural elements associated with the style, including plate-glass
windows, clerestory lights, diagonally oriented weatherboard siding, and sliding plate glass doors. Built
on a poured concrete foundation, the building overlooks the outdoor pool to the southwest.

Marx Center (1983)

Constructed in 1983, the Marx Center serves as the campus resource center. Located on the northeastern
portion of the campus, the modern building presents a rectangular form and is constructed of stretcher-
bond brick with plate glass windows. Drawing on the designs of the historic campus buildings, the Marx
Center incorporates many Colonial Revival-style elements in a modern way, including front-gable
projections with cornice returns, double-leaf doors, a side-gable main roof, paired multi-light windows
and a gable peak fanlight. Additional details include a standing-seam metal roof, interior end brick
chimneys, and skylights.

Beneficial-Hodson Library/Information Technology Center (1991)

In 1992, the library relocated to the newly constructed Beneficial Library/Information Technology Center
due to a need for space expansion. The modern Flemish-bond brick building, set on a concrete panel-
faced foundation, stands three-and-a-half stories in height east of the college entrance gates on Brodbeck
Drive. The building measures thirteen bays in width, features a side gabled slate roof, and is marked by a
central concrete-faced convex central pavilion with recessed entry. The entry, beneath a segmental
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concrete voussoir arch with 1991 engraved keystone and beaded surround, features a central double-leaf
twelve-light entry with square-edged lug concrete lintel flanked by single-leaf twelve-light doors with
similar square-edged lug lintels. Above the entry arch, the second-and-third-story windows are placed in
the rounded projection with quoin-like edges with paired column caps, and molded concrete cornice. The
second story features five 9/9 windows with three-light transoms, while the third story is pierced with five
6/6 windows. The first story is further marked with 8/8 windows, flanking the central entry. The
windows feature rowlock sills and lintels with horizontal projecting bands extending across the first story
of the facade. The second story, which features similarly detailed 12/12 windows, is divided from the
ground floor by a square-edged concrete stringcourse. The third story features three 8/8 windows cut into
the concrete facing with 2/2 sidelights flanking the central pavilion. The third story also extends three
additional bays on each end with 8/8 windows cut directly into the brick facade. The Beneficial Library is
additionally detailed with a molded concrete cornice and five symmetrically placed semi-circular eyebrow
dormers with twenty-nine light windows.

Whitaker Campus Center (1997)

The Whitaker Campus Center, which serves as the center of student affairs and activities, is located in the
southern portion of the campus between Brodbeck and Ferndale Drives. The modern building stands two-
and-a-half stories in height and is constructed of American-bond laid brick, which creates a subtle
diamond pattern. The building features a central round block with three radiating gabled wings. The
central block, defined by 1/1 windows, a segmental conical-shaped asphalt-shingled roof, and a third story
band of two-light clerestory windows, capped by a finial. The building presents entries from the ground
level of the central portion, sheltered by one-story porch roofs connecting the adjacent radiating wings.
Additional details of the building include a molded cornice, an exterior-end decorative brick chimney,
two-light fanlights, and three-sided canted bay projections with multi-light 1/1 window-banks.

List Of Razed or No Longer College-Owned Resources

Terrace House (circa 1930)
Located at 307 Upper College Terrace, the Spanish Colonial Revival-style dwelling was used as a
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residence hall to house fourteen students. The residence was purchased by the college in 1947 and later
sold.

East Rayford and West Rayford (circa 1940)

The college purchased East Rayford in 1944, while West Rayford was purchased in 1960. Both Colonial
Revival-style residences were remodeled in 1974. Both were razed for the building of the Whitaker
Campus Center in the mid-1990s.

College Farm Complex

Portions of the College Farm, located along West Seventh Street, predated the existence of Hood College.
Later used as a working farm by the college, the property consisted of over eighty acres, a farmhouse
(circa 1860), Dairy Bam (built 1937, renovated into a dormitory in 1975, and demolished in 1986). A
riding stable was later erected, but torn down in 1984. The property was later sold, reducing the campus
landholdings to approximately fifty acres.

College House 804 West Seventh Street (circa 1940, purchased 1966)
Sold by the College.

East Cottage
Martz Hall/French House replaced East Cottage, used as the college infirmary, in 1925.

Spanish House purchased (1946)
Located at 284 Dill Avenue, the Spanish House was replaced by a similar building located at 271 Dill
Avenue.
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Building Name Date Current Use _ Style Material Stories Roof Status
p

Alumnae Hall 1915 Education Colonial Revival Brick 35 Side Gable Contributing

Alumnae House 1920 Education Colonial Revival  Brick 25 Side Gable Contributing

1.H. Apple Resource and Technology Center 1941 Education Colonial Revival Brick 25 Side Gable Contributing

Beneficial Hodson Library/Technology Center 1992 Library Other Brick 35 Side Gable Non-Contributing

Brodbeck Music Hall 1868 Education Modified to Col. Revival Brick 25 Front Gable Contributing —
Carson Cottage 1923 Education Craftsman Cottage Wood Shingle 1.5 Side Gable Contributing

Coblentz Hall 1922 Residence Hall Colonial Revival Brick 35 Side Gable Contributing

(-1
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Coblentz Memorial Hall 1965 Residence Hall Colonial Revival Brick 35 Side Gable Non-Contributing
Coffman Chapel 1955 Church Colonial Revival Brick 25 Front Gable Contributing
College House circa 1930 Education Colonial Revival Brick 2 Side Gable Contributing
French House/Martz Hall 1925 Residence Hall Colonial Revival Brick 2 Flat Contributing
Gambrill Gymnasium 1949 Athletic Facility =~ Colonial Revival ~ Brick 3 Side Gable Contributing
German House circa 1940 Education Colonial Revival  Siding 25 Front Gable Contributing
Hodson Outdoor Theater 1938 Theater No Style N/A N/A N/A Contributing
Hod